IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

FREDDIE L. KNOX, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-CA-01431

GEORGE MAHALITC

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS FREDDIE L. KNOX, ET AL. ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Attorneys for Appellants:

Oby T. Rogers, Esq. (MSB) Oby T. Rogers, PLLC Attorney at Law Post Office Box 700 Collins, MS 39428

Telephone: 601.765.1000 **Facsimile:** 601.765.1008

Eddie J. Abdeen, Esq. (MSB # Attorney at Law Post Office Box 2134 Madison, Mississippi 39130 Telephone: (601) 898-7972 Facsimile: (601) 427-0040

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

FREDDIE L. KNOX, ET AL.

APPELLANTS

VS.

CASE NO. 2010-CA-01431

GEORGE MAHALITC

APPELLEE

I. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE/OPERATIVE FACTS
VI.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
VII.	ARGUMENT 9
VIII.	CONCLUSION

III. TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Anderson v. Alps Automotive, Inc., 51 So. 3d 929(Miss. 2010)	
Brake v. Reser's Fine Foods, Inc., 2009 WL 2382361 *2-3(E.D. Mo. July 30, 2009) 14	
Commercial Bank v. Hearn, 923 So. 2d 202, 204(Miss. 2006)	
Crawford Logging, Inc. v. Estate of Irving, 41 So. 3d 687, 690(Miss. 2010) 2,10	
Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services, Inc., 704 So. 2d 1016, ¶10(Miss. 1997)	
Schultz by Schultz v. Romanace, 906 S.W. 2d 393	
Sullivan v. Tullos, 19 So. 3d 1271, 1274-75(Miss. 2009)	
Veal v. J.P. Morgan Trust Co., N.A., 955 So. 2d 843, 845(Miss. 2007) 9,10,11,12	
Washington v. Allstate Ins. Co., 901 F.2d 1281, 1283-1284(5th Cir. 1990)	
Wilner v. White, 929 So. 315 ¶4 (Miss. 2006)	
<u>STATUTES</u>	
Miss. Code Ann. § 13-3-55	
Miss. Code Ann. § 79-13-306	

IV. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE(S)

- 1. Whether the trial court erred by failing to treat the Motion to Dismiss of G. Mahalitc, filed pursuant to M.R.C.P. 12(b)(6), as a Motion for Summary Judgment and dispose of and/or rule on the motion as required by M.R.C.P. 56, when the trial court considered matters outside the pleadings and stated on the record that the subject motion would be treated as a Rule 56 Motion.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred by granting the Motion to Dismiss of G. Mahalitc and/or ruling that the claim(s) of the Knox Appellants against G. Mahalitc, set forth in the first amended complaint of the Knox Appellants, were time barred under the applicable statute of limitations.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the Knox Appellants did not properly substitute G. Mahalite as a defendant under M.R.C.P. 9(h) (fictitious party provision) so that the claim(s) of the Knox Appellants against G. Mahalite related back to the date of the filing of the Knox Applellants' original complaint as provided for in M.R.C.P. 15(c)(2).
- 4. Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the Knox Appellants failed to exercise reasonable diligence to bring G. Mahalitc into this action in a timely manner as required by M.R.C.P. 9(h).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE/OPERATIVE FACTS

A. Background/Procedural History.

The claims of the Knox Appellants are straightforward and arise out of a motor vehicle accident that occurred on October 7, 2006 on Highway 16 in Issaquena County, Mississippi. Specifically, a collision occurred between a vehicle being driven by Yolanda Knox and a tractor-trailer

being driven by Defendant David McCoy, the trailer portion of which was partially extended into Yolanda Knox's lane of traffic and was the point of impact between the two vehicles. The collision resulted in the deaths of three members of the Knox family, as well as physical injuries to one or more of the Knox Appellants. These core facts are not in dispute.¹

As will be demonstrated herein and what is crucial to this appeal is that the original complaint of Knox Appellants makes it clear that the Knox Appellants intended to sue whomever was the employer and/or principal of David McCoy under a respondeat superior theory². This Court has recognized the doctrine of respondeat superior since the mid-19th century and a claim asserted under such doctrine is a derivative claim arising solely out of the negligent conduct of the employee and/or agent within the scope of the employment and/or agency. See Crawford Logging v. Estate of Irving, 41 So. 3d 687, 690 (Miss. 2010); and Commercial Bank v. Hearn, 923 So. 2d 202, 204 (Miss. 2006). There is nothing profound about this point and this "black letter law" concept is present in every garden variety personal injury action involving a motor vehicle accident where the defendant driver is operating a "commercial" vehicle for and on behalf of an employer and/or principal.

The following background/procedural facts have bearing on and/or are pertinent to the issues raised in this appeal:

There is a separate appeal currently pending in this Court arising out of the same motor vehicle accident. Specifically, the Knox Appellants have appealed the trial court's grant of summary judgment to Russell Mahalitc, the owner of the tractor-trailer being driven by Defendant David McCoy. See Knox, et al. v. Russell Mahalitc, Case No. 2009-CA-01401 ("Russell Mahalitc Appeal") and the briefing of the Knox Appellants in such appeal for a more expansive description of the background and/or underlying facts of the case.

There can be no dispute about this point. Even the trial court acknowledged the original complaint of the Knox Appellants sought to impose liability on the employer of Defendant McCoy, the driver of the commercial vehicle involved in the subject collision. (R.888 – Order granting G. Mahalitc's dismissal motion at para. 2 a.-c.).

- 1. On or about March 4, 2008, the Knox Appellants filed their complaint in this action in the Washington County, Mississippi Circuit Court. (R.14 and R.1-15). Based upon the information contained in the accident report related to the subject collision, the Knox Appellants named David McCoy, Russell Mahalitc d/b/a Magnolia Plantation ("R. Mahalitc") and, pursuant to *M.R.C.P.* 9(h), certain "John Does" as defendants. (R.1-15 Knox Appellants' Complaint; Para. 10 Knox Appellants' Complaint (R.4) fictitious party and/or parties "D", ... being the entity or entities who or which was the employer of the person who was the operator of the commercial vehicle [David McCoy] that was involved in the occurrence made the basis of Plaintiffs' claims and "E", ... being that entity or entities for whom David McCoy was acting as agent, servant, or employee on the occasion of the incident made the basis of this lawsuit; and R. 476-496 Affidavit of Oby Rogers, incorporated by reference pursuant to *M.R.C.P.* 10 into the Knox Appellants' Response to the Motion to Dismiss of G. Mahalitc at para. 4 (R.769-770).
- 2. The Knox Appellants served discovery with the complaint served upon David McCoy ("McCoy") that included discovery requests specifically directed toward the issue of who employed McCoy. (R. 476-496 Affidavit of Oby Rogers at para. 4; and R. 18-20 Summons to McCoy noting discovery served with complaint). While McCoy eventually responded to the interrogatories of the Knox Appellants by stating his employer was GM Farms, McCoy never supplemented his interrogatory responses to state GM Farms was a Mississippi partnership, the

The Knox Appellants initially alleged that R. Mahalitc not only owned the subject tractor-trailer but that he was also the employer of McCoy and, as a result, sought to impose liability upon Mahalitc under the legal principle of *respondean superior*. However, because, as the facts in this case demonstrate, the owner of a tractor-trailer can turn out not to be the driver's employer, the Knox Appellants also named the employer of McCoy as a John Doe Defendant pursuant to M.R.C.P. 9(h). (R.3-6 – Knox Appellants' Complaint at paras. 8-10).

partners of which were G. Mahalitc and various other corporate partners. (R.803-813 – Affidavit of George Mahalitc attaching a copy of the partnership agreement (listing partners) and authenticating same in the context of filing a reply in support of G. Mahalitc's Motion to Dismiss.

- 3. On March 27, 2008, McCoy and R. Mahalitc filed separate answers and defenses in which they both denied that R. Mahalitc was McCoy's employer. (R.25-45).
- 4. On December 9, 2008, R. Mahalitc filed a Motion for Summary Judgment asserting that while R. Mahalitc/Magnolia Plantation was the owner of the subject tractor-trailer, R. Mahalitc was not the employer of McCoy and, therefore, could not be liable for the negligent operation of the tractor-trailer by McCoy. (R.175-181-Mahalitc's Memorandum Brief in Support of Summary Judgment at, *inter alia*, pp. 1-3).
- 5. Soon after R. Mahalitc filed his summary judgment motion, Oby Rogers, counsel for the Knox Appellants, contacted Brad Hathaway, Esq., counsel for the defendants, and they discussed, among other things, the possibility of an agreed order of substitution (in relation to the fictitious parties) to be entered after the trial court ruled on R. Mahalitc's summary judgment motion. (R. 476-496 Affidavit of Oby Rogers at para. 12). Mr. Hathaway assured Mr. Rogers that the "proper parties could be worked out" [via an agreed order] after the trial court ruled on the pending summary judgment motion. Id. Note: The Knox Appellants incorporated the affidavit of Mr. Rogers into their response to G. Mahalitc's Motion to Dismiss pursuant to M.R.C.P. 10. Such affidavit was uncontested by G. Mahalitc and Mr. Hathaway never denied making the subject assurance to Mr. Roger, via an affidavit and/or in any other form of competent summary judgment evidence.
- 6. On July 17, 2009, the trial court granted R. Mahalitc's summary judgment motion and on August 13, 2009, the Knox Appellants filed their notice of appeal of the judgment and/or order. (R. 476-496 Affidavit of Oby Rogers at para. 13). Such appeal (the Russell Mahalitc

Appeal) is still pending. See footnote 1 hereto.

- 7. Soon after the Knox Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal in relation to the Russell Mahalitc Appeal and consistent with the previous conversation between counsel, Mr. Rogers contacted Mr. Hathaway regarding the agreed order of substitution. (R. 476-496 Affidavit of Oby Rogers at para. 14). Despite Mr. Hathaway's previous assurance to Mr. Rogers that the proper parties could be "worked out" via an agreed order of substitution, Mr. Hathaway responded by stating that "his clients" would not allow him to agree to any substitution and that Mr. Rogers would have to do whatever he needed to do to get the substitution accomplished. Id.; See also paras. 5 and 9 of the Rogers Affidavit, wherein Mr. Rogers states that Mr. Hathaway indicated there were "other entities involved" in relation to the claims asserted by the Knox Appellants [e.g. the employer of McCoy] and that Mr. Hathaway had taken the sworn statements of, among other people, G. Mahalitc. Note: Once again, Mr. Hathaway has never disputed anything in the Rogers Affidavit and G. Mahalitc did not submit any summary judgment type evidence that disputed the contents of the Rogers Affidavit.
- 8. In response to Mr. Hathaway refusing to substitute the "proper parties" [i.e., McCoy's employer and/or principal] via an agreed order of substitution (despite a previous assurance to Mr. Rogers that he would do so), Mr. Rogers, on behalf of the Knox Appellants, drafted and filed, on October 6, 2009, Plaintiffs' motion to amend their original complaint to substitute George Mahalite d/b/a GM Farms as, among other things, the employer and/or principal of McCoy [which sought to impose liability on G. Mahalite under respondeat superior grounds], as well as the related proposed amended complaint.(R. 476-496 Affidavit of Oby Rogers at para. 14).
- 9. On October 19, 2009, McCoy and R. Mahalitc, through Mr. Hathaway, opposed the Knox Appellants' Motion to Amend (to Substitute G. Mahalitc as the employer/principal of McCoy)

by arguing, among other things, that the Knox Appellants were really seeking to add G. Mahaltic as a new party (rather than properly substituting G. Mahaltic for the employer of McCoy named as a fictitious party in the original complaint of the Knox Appellants. (R.344-355 and related exhibits). Mr. Hathaway, on behalf of the defendants, made this argument in a transparent attempt to successfully rely on the Mississippi case law that stands for the proposition that a motion to add a defendant filed before the limitations period expires but not ruled upon until after the period expires does not save a cause of action from being time-barred [as against the newly named defendant], citing Wilner v. White, 929 So. 315 ¶4 (Miss. 2006)).

- 10. On November 30, 2009, the Knox Appellants filed their reply in support of motion to amend complaint to substitute G. Mahalitc d/b/a GM Farms as previously named fictitious defendant. (R.465-473). Once again, the Knox Appellants pointed out that the amended complaint sought to substitute G. Mahalitc as one of McCoy's employers and/or principals for the purpose of, among other things, imposing liability on G. Mahalitc under the *respondent superior* doctrine. (R.466-468).
- On January 11, 2010, the trial court granted the the Knox Appellants' Motion for Leave to Amend to Substitute G. Mahalitc for a fictitious party finding, among other things, that McCoy and R. Mahalitc did not have standing to oppose the Knox Appellants' motion. (R.573-576).
- 12. Thereafter, the Knox Appellants' filed their First Amended Complaint and served G. Mahalitc with process. G. Mahalitc then, through Mr. Hathaway, filed, pursuant to M.R.C.P. 12(b)(6), his Motion to Dismiss the Knox Appellants' First Amended Complaint on statute of limitations grounds and attached thereto matters outside the pleadings. (R.630-646, plus related exhibits that follow thereafter). Through such motion, Mr. Hathaway, for the first time, produced the partnership agreement of G.M. Farms, which listed all of the partners, including G. Mahalitc. (R.739-

Exhibit 7).

- 13. On March 16, 2010, the Knox Appellants filed their response to the Motion to Dismiss of G. Mahalite. (R.768-781).
- On June 21, 2010, the trial court heard oral argument on the Motion to Dismiss of G. Mahalitc. (R.Vol. 8 of 8 Transcript pp. 68-113). During such argument, the trial court indicated that it was going to treat the dismissal motion of G. Mahalitc as a *Rule* 56 motion because the court was going to consider the matters outside of the pleadings submitted by the parties. (R.Vol. 8 of 8 Transcript p. 88 Lines 7-14)
- 15. On July 28, 2010, the trial court granted the Motion to Dismiss of G. Mahalitc (R.888-898).
 - B Facts and Claims Pled in the First Amended Complaint.

The Knox Appellants' First Amended Complaint alleges that, among other things, G. Mahalitc was the employer of McCoy and that McCoy and G. Mahalitc, under *respondent superior* grounds, wrongfully and negligently operated the "commercial vehicle" that was involved in the occurrence made the basis of the Plaintiffs's claims (R.585-600) – Knox Appellants' First Amended Complaint paras. 9, 13 and 14).

VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

G. Mahalitc who, by his own admission is a partner of GM Farms, has properly been substituted pursuant to M.R.C.P. 9(h) as a defendant in this action, as McCoy's employer and/or otherwise. A partnership such as GM Farms (McCoy's employer), may be sued in the partnership name, or in the names of the individuals composing the partnership, or both and service of process on any partner shall be sufficient to maintain the suit against against all the partners so as to bind the assets of the partnership and of the individual summoned. Miss. Code Ann. § 13-3-55 (1972,

as amended)(emphasis added); See Miss. Code Ann. § 79-13-306(a)(" partners are liable jointly and severally for all obligations of the partnership"). Since Plaintiffs' substitution of G. Mahalitc as the defendant employer of McCoy under M.R.C.P 9(h) relates back to the date Plaintiffs' original complaint was filed, G. Mahalitc's statute of limitation defense and his assertion that the claims of the Knox Appellants against him are time barred have no merit. See M.R.C.P. 9(h) and 15(c). As a result, the trial court erred in granting G. Mahalitc's dismissal motion on statute of limitation grounds.

The Knox Appellants alleged in their original complaint that the fictitious parties named in the complaint were unknown to them, which included McCoy's employer and/or principal. (R.4-7 –Fictitious parties "D" and "E" and the last sentence of para. 10 of the original complaint (R.7)). While the original complaint also alleged R. Mahalitc d/b/a Magnolia Plantation was also McCoy's employer, the Knox Appellants were entitled to plead in the alternative under *M.R.C.P.* 8. Simply put, when the Knox Appellants sought to substitute G. Mahalitc as McCoy's employer and impose derivative liability on G. Mahalitc under *respondeat superior* grounds (for the negligence of McCoy), such substitution was proper under *Rule* 9(h). The fact that the Knox Appellants' First Amended Complaint "increased" the number of fictitious parties named in the complaint simply is not dispositive of the issue of whether G. Mahalitc was properly substituted.

As to the "reasonable diligence test" under M.R.C.P. 9(h), the Knox Appellants served discovery upon McCoy at the time he was served with the complaint that was directed at ascertaining McCoy's employer. Such discovery was never fully answered. However, and more importantly, the Knox Appellants' delay in filing their Motion to Amend to Substitute G. Mahalite arose out of Counsel for G. Mahalite and the other defendants assuring Mr. Rogers, counsel for the Knox Appellants, that the substitution of the proper parties (i.e. McCoy's employer) could be addressed via an agreed order of substitution. The Knox Appellants reasonably relied on such assurance and

moved expeditiously to file the Motion to Amend to Substitute G. Mahalitc when defense counsel changed his position on this issue. The *Rule* 56 evidence, in the form of the affidavit of Oby Rogers, is uncontested on this point. Under such circumstances, it was error for the trial court to find the Knox Appellants did not use reasonable diligence to seek to substitute G. Mahalitc as McCoy's employer.

VII. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews the application of the *Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure*, which present a question of law, *de novo. Veal v. J.P. Morgan Trust Co.*, 955 So. 2d 843, 845 (Miss. 2007).

B. Despite Relying on Matters Outside the Pleadings, the Trial Court Failed to Apply Rule 56 to the Dismissal Motion of G. Mahalitc.

Where matters outside the pleadings are considered by the trial court in ruling on a motion to dismiss, *Rule* 12(b) requires the court to treat the motion as one for summary judgment and to dispose of it as required by *Rule* 56. *See Washington v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 901 F.2d 1281, 1283-1284 (5th Cir. 1990); and *Sullivan v. Tullos*, 19 So. 3d 1271, 1274-75 (Miss. 2009). The trial court failed to follow this point of law and erred as a result. For example, the court's order granting G. Mahalitc's Motion to Dismiss clearly demonstrates the court considered the affidavit of Oby Rogers, Esq., one of the attorneys for the Knox Appellants. (R.896 at para. 44). Such affidavit, among other things, including the partnership agreement of GM Farms and the discovery responses of the defendants, constitute "matters outside the pleadings" and are, in fact, clearly summary judgment type evidence. (R.889 - order granting G. Mahalitc's dismissal motion at paras. 5-10 - trial court considering, among other things, discovery responses and the partnership agreement of GM Farms); *See M.R.C.P.* 56 (c)and (e) (noting the various types of summary judgment evidence considered in the context of a

Rule 56 motion).

C. The Knox Appellants properly substituted G. Mahalitc (as the employer of Defendant McCoy) as a defendant under M.R.C.P. 9(h) so that the claim(s) of the Knox Appellants against G. Mahalitc (based upon respondent superior grounds) related back to the date of the filing of the Knox Applellants' original complaint as provided for in M.R.C.P. 15(c)(2).

As this Court has observed, "the purpose of *Rule* 9(h) is to allow a plaintiff to proceed with a lawsuit where the plaintiff knows and can articulate the wrongful conduct of, and claims against, the fictitious party, but simply does not know that party's name." *Veal v. J.P. Morgan Trust Co.*, 955 So. 2d 843, 845-846 (Miss. 2007) (also stating, among other things, "the purpose of *Rule* 9(h) is to provide a mechanism to bring in responsible parties, **known**, but unidentified, who can only be ascertained through the use of judicial mechanisms such as discovery.".)(emphasis added by the Court).

In this case, at all times pertinent hereto, the Knox Appellants sought to impose liability upon the employer of Defendant McCoy, the driver of the commercial vehicle involved in the subject collision, on *respondeat superior* grounds. As noted herein, the *respondeat superior* doctrine is a derivative claim arising solely out of the negligent conduct of the employee and/or agent within the scope of the employment and/or agency. *See Crawford Logging v. Estate of Irving*, 41 So. 3d 687, 690 (Miss. 2010); and *Commercial Bank v. Hearn*, 923 So. 2d 202, 204 (Miss. 2006). As a result, such a claim does not specifically require wrongful conduct on the part of the employer and/or principal but, rather, liability arises by virtue of the mere existence of the employer/employee and/or principal/agent relationship.

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