## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI Case No. 2010-CA-01431

FREDDIE L. KNOX, et al.

**APPELLANTS** 

V.

GEORGE MAHALITC

APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Washington County, Mississippi; Cause No. 2008-0055-CI

PRINCIPAL BRIEF OF APPELLEE, GEORGE MAHALITC (ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

Bradley F. Hathaway, MSB No Campbell DeLong, LLP 923 Washington Avenue (38701) P.O. Box 1856 Greenville, Mississippi 38702-1856

Telephone:

(662) 335-6011

Facsimile:

(662) 334-6407

#### CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

Farms' motion to dismiss as one for summary judgment; the trial court alerted the Knoxes to this fact; the trial court (repeatedly) gave the Knoxes the option of rescheduling the motion hearing in order to provide adequate notice of the court's election; and the Knoxes waived notice and said, "[w]e are prepared to proceed today."

The Knoxes' assignment of error on this issue is hollow. Not only did the Knoxes' counsel affirmatively stipulate to the trial court's procedure, there was no objection made to it, resulting in waiver. See, e.g., Koestler v. Mississippi College, 749 So. 2d 1122, (¶¶ 1, 13) (Miss. App. 1999) (holding, procedural defects may be waived by party's failure to object to procedure employed).

In any event, this Court's standard of review is the same regardless of the trial court's treatment of GM Farms' motion. See *Copiah County v. Oliver*, 51 So. 3d 205, (¶ 7) (Miss. 2011) (holding, standard of review for grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment or motion to dismiss is *de novo*). The standard of review is tempered, however, by the principle that "a trial judge may not be put in error on a matter which was not presented to him for decision." *Holland v. State*, 587 So. 2d 848, 868 (Miss. 1991). "This means that the matter must be presented to the trial court in such a form that the trial judge has the opportunity to consider it with full knowledge of the respective contentions of the parties." *House v. State*, 445 So. 2d 815, 819 (Miss. 1984).

## C. The Knoxes' claims against GM Farms are time-barred.

The Knoxes' claims against GM Farms are governed by the three-year statute of limitations found in M.C.A. § 15-1-49(1). In *Mississippi Dept. Of Public Safety v.* 

Stringer, this Court explained the purpose of having a statute of limitations, writing:

The primary purpose of statutory time limitations is to compel the exercise of a right of action within a reasonable amount of time. These statutes are founded upon the general experience of society that valid claims will be promptly pursued and not allowed to remain neglected.

748 So. 2d 662, 665 (¶ 13) (Miss. 1999). Through this lens, GM Farms will address the Knoxes' arguments that their claims are saved from the effects of § 15-1-49(1).

The parties are in perfect agreement that the amended complaint was filed against GM Farms outside of the statute of limitations. There is also no dispute that the Knoxes' motion to amend, filed one day prior to the running of the statutory period but not ruled upon until after the period expired, did not save their suit from being time-barred. See Wilner v. White, 929 So. 2d 315, (¶ 4) (Miss. 2006); Curry v. Turner, 832 So. 2d 508, 514 (Miss. 2002). Instead, it is Rule 9(h) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure on which the Knoxes rely to preserve their claims.

Before the trial court, and now again on appeal, the Knoxes exclusively asserted they properly substituted GM Farms in the place of a fictitious defendant under Rule 9(h), and they affirmatively disclaimed any attempt to add GM Farms as a new party to the action. To again quote the Knoxes' counsel, "[w]e are not seeking to add [GM Farms] as a defendant. The plaintiffs will stand or fall under Rule 9 in this Court's ruling on that issue of Rule 9. We are not adding – seeking to add [GM Farms] as a defendant in this case. So that issue can summarily be disposed of and we'll stand or fall under Rule 9(h)." (Transcript at p. 97).

No doubt, this was by design since the Knoxes could not meet the requirements of Rule 15(c), which apply when a plaintiff is adding new parties. Further to that

point, the Knoxes made no mistake concerning the identity of GM Farms. In Wilner v. White, the Mississippi Supreme Court explained that the purpose of Rule 15(c)(2) is "to allow some leeway to a party who made a mistake, so long as the party does what is required within the time period under the rule." Wilner, 929 So. 2d at (¶ 9). But, as Wilner explains, where a plaintiff has identified a party in their own court filings (as the Knoxes did here) but does nothing to add them to the suit until it is too late (as the Knoxes did here), it cannot be said that a mistake occurred. Id. There was no mistake concerning GM Farms' existence or its role since nearly the inception of this suit but, until Magnolia was dismissed from the case, the Knoxes chose not to sue GM Farms. It was only after that strategy played out unfavorably for the Knoxes that they contrived an attempt to substitute GM Farms under Rule 9(h), and it is against that rule that we measure the Knoxes' untimely amended complaint.

# 1. The Knoxes' original complaint represents a classic example of improper pleading against fictitious parties.

Under Rule 9(h), it must first be determined whether "Fictitious Defendants A through X," who appear in the original complaint, were truly fictitious parties. This, in turn, requires scrutiny of whether GM Farms was legitimately substituted for a fictitious party listed in the original complaint.

The substance of the Knoxes' allegations against the original 24 fictitious parties reveals improper pleading in that they lodged the exact same allegation against all of the original 24 fictitious parties:

There may be other entities whose true names and identities are unknown to the Plaintiffs at this time who may be legally responsible for the claims(s) set forth herein who may be added by amendment by the

Plaintiffs when their true names and identities are actually ascertained by further discovery.

(C.P. 3). These non-specific allegations provided no indication that the Knoxes were aware of the existence of GM Farms when they commenced their suit. To the contrary, they alleged there "may" be other parties who "may" be responsible and the Knoxes commenced to list no less than 24 of those "parties," one after the other. This is a classic example of improper pleading against fictitious parties:

Rule 9(h) is not intended to serve as an insurance policy to plaintiffs who wish to protect themselves in case they discover new defendants in the course of litigation. Rule 9(h) authorizes the plaintiff to deviate in only one respect from the requirements of the *Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure* in bringing a claim. That is, the plaintiff is allowed to use a fictitious name rather than the true name of the defendant. In other words, the purpose of 9(h) is to allow a plaintiff to proceed with a lawsuit where the plaintiff knows and can articulate the wrongful conduct of, and claims against, the fictitious party but simply does not know that party's name.

Rule 9(h) does not say that a plaintiff may include a fictitious party because the plaintiff suspects there *might* be someone out there who *might* have engaged in conduct which *might* be actionable.

\* \* \* \*

[W]here a plaintiff suspects there might have been others involved in the procedure who might have been negligent, but is, at the time suit is filed, unaware of who they are or what negligent act they are alleged to have committed, a plaintiff may not include a fictitious party in the complaint. This court has previously stated that "the purpose of Rule 9(h) is to provide a mechanism to bring in responsible parties known, but unidentified, who can only be ascertained through the use of judicial mechanism such as discovery.

Veal v. J.P. Morgan, 955 So. 2d 843, (¶¶ 9-11) (citing Ralph Walker, Inc. v. Gallagher, 926 So. 2d 890, 896-97 (Miss. 2006)) (emphasis in original).

Here, the Knoxes' allegations against the 24 fictitious parties in the original

complaint amounted to nothing more than the forbidden attempt to protect themselves against the possibility that they might discover a new defendant in the course of the litigation.

The Knoxes make the feckless argument that because their original complaint sought to hold McCoy's employer liable for his actions at the time of the accident, they were not using Rule 9(h) to ensure against discovery revealing other possible defendants. Not only does the sheer number of fictitious parties listed run counter to this argument, but the Knoxes' pleadings and their subsequent course of action contradict this assertion.

First, as already noted, the wording of the Knoxes' allegations against the fictitious parties plainly indicate they were being named as a hedge against the possibility that there may be others who may bear legal responsibility and who may be added to the suit. Secondly, the Knoxes, as the master of their complaint, specifically sought to hold Magnolia, the owner of the truck, vicariously liable for McCoy's actions. Lest this be considered a case of mistaken identity, when Magnolia refuted this contention and sought dismissal (supported by affidavit testimony), the Knoxes did not amend their complaint to name GM Farms but vehemently resisted Magnolia's efforts, arguing that "in accordance with federal leasing regulations and case law, Magnolia is responsible for the driver, David McCoy's actions as his statutory employer." It was only after this proved to be a losing strategy that the Knoxes rationalized that they always meant to hold GM Farms – not Magnolia – vicariously liable for McCoy. The inconsistency between the Knoxes' current position with their

earlier position is indefensible. See *King v. Bunton*, --- So. 3d ----, 2010 WL 1077442 (Miss. 2010), *citing Banes v. Thompson*, 352 So. 2d 812, 815 (Miss. 1977), ("Judicial estoppel normally arises from the taking of a position by a party that is inconsistent with a position previously asserted.").

In sum, under the crucible of controlling law, the trial court's finding that the Knoxes improperly utilized fictitious parties in their pleadings withstands the Knoxes' assignment of error.

# 2. The Knoxes did not substitute GM Farms in the place of any of the fictitious parties listed in their original complaint.

Next, Rule 9(h) required that the Knoxes actually substitute GM Farms in the place of one of the original 24 fictitious parties. That was not done. The Knoxes paddle upstream against overwhelming authority by arguing that their adding of fictitious parties, without dropping any, in their amended complaint is immaterial. They reason that since their original complaint carved out a fictitious defendant for McCoy's employer or principal, that is self-proving of a proper substitution. In contrast, though, the Knoxes' amended complaint continues to name the exact same fictitious defendants – plus three more.

In their original complaint, the Knoxes identified "Defendant D" as the "entity or entities who or which was the employer of the person who was the operator of the commercial vehicle involved in the occurrence made the basis of Plaintiffs' claims"; and they identified "Defendant E" as "that entity or entities for whom David McCoy was acting as an agent, servant, or employee on the occasion of the incident made the basis of Plaintiffs' claims." (C.P. 4). However, original "Defendant D" re-appears in the

Knoxes' amended complaint as "Defendant G," while original "Defendant E" re-appears in the amended complaint as "Defendant H." (C.P. 586). No fictitious parties were deleted.

In Doe v. Mississippi Blood Services, this Court rejected a claim of substitution of parties where the plaintiff added new defendants "without deleting any fictitious name that was included in the original petition." 704 So. 2d 1016, (¶ 10) (Miss. 1997) (emphasis added). This holding was reaffirmed in Wilner v. White, 925 So. 2d 315, (¶ 6) (Miss. 2006) (rejecting claim of substitution of parties where same "John Doe" defendants appeared in both original and amended complaints). Notwithstanding the Knoxes' dismissive treatment of these cases, they represent the authoritative rule of law of this state and the trial court was bound to follow them, just as it did. GM Farms took the place of no previously identified fictitious party and, whereas the original complaint listed 24 such defendants, the amended complaint listed 27.

The trial court's holding that the Knoxes failed to make a proper substitution on this account was the legally correct decision, and it is respectfully submitted that this Court should affirm the trial court's determination that the claims against GM Farms are time-barred.

3. Even if it were assumed that GM Farms was properly substituted, the Knoxes failed to exercise reasonable diligence in amending their complaint.

Even where rule 9(h) has been properly utilized for an unknown party, a reasonable diligence test must still be employed to determine whether a proper substitution has occurred in a timely manner. Wilner, 929 So. 2d at ¶ 7. Though the

trial court held that the Knoxes failed to properly utilize Rule 9(h) and their claims were barred on those grounds, the trial court went ahead and measured the Knoxes' amended complaint against the reasonable diligence test, finding that they had failed to act in a timely manner. For this additional reason, the Knoxes claims were determined to be time-barred.

The Knoxes take issue with this holding on two principal grounds. First, they claim that the trial court "overlooked" the fact that McCoy and Magnolia had not identified the individual partners constituting GM Farms and, therefore, the Knoxes "had no way of serving process on GM Farms." Secondly, they assert that Defendants' counsel had assured the Knoxes' counsel that the proper defendants to the case could be "worked out" between the parties.

The starting place for evaluating these contentions is the language of Rule 9(h), which provides:

When a party is ignorant of the name of an opposing party and so alleges in his pleading, the opposing party may be designated by any name, and when his true name is discovered the process and all pleadings and proceedings in the action may be amended by substituting the true name and giving proper notice to the opposing party.

(Emphasis added.) In Anderson v. Alps Automotive, Inc., 51 So. 3d 929, (¶ 13) (Miss. 2010), this Court interpreted the phrase "when his true name is discovered," to mean that "an immediate amendment of the complaint is required properly and timely to substitute a true defendant for the fictitiously named defendant." (Emphasis added). Thus, when the Anderson plaintiff waited more than nine months after learning the true name of a defendant before attempting a substitution, this Court held that the

plaintiff had failed to exercise reasonable diligence to bring the party into the suit in a timely manner. Id. at ¶ 20. In keeping with Anderson, the trial court in this case correctly found that the Knoxes discovered GM Farms identity as McCoy's employer at least as early as May 15, 2008 - 17 months before the statutory period expired – if not earlier, yet failed to act in a timely manner.

The Knoxes retort that because they did not know the names of the individual partners constituting of GM Farms, they should be excused from timely suing GM Farms.<sup>6</sup> Respectfully, this is nonsensical.

The identity of the individual partners of GM Farms was disclosed during the briefing of GM Farms' motion to dismiss so as to satisfy the trial court's question of whether Russell Mahalite, a named defendant in the original complaint, was also partner of GM Farms. GM Farms provided the trial court with the partnership agreement merely to show that Russell Mahaltic was not a partner of GM Farms.

But, before the Knoxes ever learned who the individual partners of GM Farms were, they had already alleged in their amended complaint that "GM Farms... was the employer of David McCoy on the occasion of the incident made the basis of this lawsuit." (C.P. 589). Likewise, before the Knoxes ever learned who the individual partners of GM Farms were, they served GM Farms with process at the very same address which they had been obtained through discovery months before the statutory period expired. Thus, the Knoxes had the correct name of McCoy's employer, they had the correct address for McCoy's employer, they recognized that Mississippi law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> It bears mention that the Knoxes never sought the identity of the individual partners constituting GM Farms through any discovery mechanism, including depositions.

permitted suit against GM Farms in its name, and they sued GM Farms, albeit untimely. The Knoxes' protests aside, the problem with their amended complaint was not who they did not sue. *i.e.*, the individual partners. The fundamental problem with the amended complaint against GM Farms was, quite simply, it was untimely.

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